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Acquisition of 100% of USA Lithium Limited and its two highly prospective lithium projects:
-

Big Sandy Clay based lithium project located in Arizona

-

Lordsburg Lithium Brine project located in New Mexico

•

Both projects provide excellent exploration potential with immediate walk up drill targets
based on previous successful exploration

•

Big Sandy: multi-kilometre, lithium mineralised lacustrine “green clay” horizon with high
grade surface soil assay results from weathered zone

•

16-hole diamond drilling program for 1,600m commenced at Big Sandy
-

•

Drilling targeting highly anomalous results spread across mapped 11km x 2km zone of
lithium mineralised green lacustrine clays

Lordsburg: subject to no modern exploration (Clayton Valley look-alike) with encouraging
surface sample assay results

Exploration activities undertaken across Kangwane South Project in South Africa:
•

•

Aeromagnetic and radiometric survey successfully flown across Kangwane South Project
-

Magnetic and radiometric interpretations completed

-

Interpretations confirm previous ground geophysical work in the delineation major dykes

Phase 1 drill program of 2 holes and Phase 2 drill program of 4 holes completed
-

Assays confirm low sulphur, medium ash anthracite
Impact splitting undertaken on roof and floor cores to assist prediction of mining
conditions
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Big Sandy and Lordsburg Lithium Project, USA
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On 26 June 2018 the Company announced that it had agreed terms to acquire USA Lithium Limited
(USA Lithium) which owns a 100% interest in the Big Sandy Lithium Clay project (Big Sandy) located
in Arizona, USA and the Lordsburg Lithium Brine project (Lordsburg) located in New Mexico, USA.
Following shareholder approval granted on 3 August 2018, Hawkstone was pleased to complete the
acquisition on 7 September 2018.

Figure 1: Big Sandy and Lordsburg Lithium Projects

BIG SANDY LITHIUM CLAY PROJECT
Big Sandy straddles Interstate I93 between Phoenix and Las Vegas and comprises 258 Bureau of Land
Management (BLM) claims, covering approximately 20.9km2. USA Lithium recently staked a further
53 BLM claims covering 4.9km2 surrounding Big Sandy.
Development of lithium projects is a priority for Federal US agencies following the signing of the
Executive Order ‘Federal Strategy to Ensure Secure and Reliable Supplies of Critical Minerals’ on 20
December 2017. Big Sandy is also of strategic relevance given the Tesla Gigafactory is located
approximately 960km by sealed interstate highway to the north west.
Hawkstone Mining Limited page 4
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Big Sandy is characterised largely by flat-lying basin sediments comprising predominantly clays with
analcime and potassic alteration zones. The green lacustrine lithium bearing clay horizon is traceable
for over 11km north to south and extends at least 2km to the east as a flat sheet at or near surface
(see Figure 2 below). Faults underlying the lake may have served as channel ways for lithium-rich
solutions to percolate into the lake basin and possibly alter and enrich the existing clays in lithium.
Cofer Hot Springs is interpreted to lie on an East North East trending fault zone. Alternatively, the
lithium may have been sourced from underlying/bounding acid volcanics and remobilised into the
basin sequence. It’s likely that both processes operated throughout the geological history of the area
leading to the laterally extensive lithium mineralisation.
Lithium clay deposits, such as that found at Big Sandy, are generally large, flat lying, sedimentary
deposits that have been enriched by the flow of lithium-rich solutions. Despite having a lower in-situ
grade than their hard rock peers, clay style deposits are proving to be a low cost, economically viable
source of lithium. Clay based deposits have favourable operating costs as they are characterised by
the following:
•
•
•

Traditional, large scale, open-pit mining methods.
Free-dig material with no drill and blast costs.
Simple flow-sheet with little requirement for crushing and grinding.

USA Lithium are excited by the recent sampling results at Big Sandy and looks forward to rapidly
advancing the project with the help of its highly experienced board and management team.

Figure 2: Big Sandy - Green Lacustrine Lithium Bearing Clays
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USA Lithium commenced a drilling program in August 2018 of 16 holes for approximately 1,600
metres. The focus of the program is to test the highly anomalous results from the previous detailed
mapping, surface sampling and shallow auger programs across the mapped 11km x 2km zone of
lithium mineralised green lacustrine clays. It will also test for the potential presence of stacked
mineralisation zones within the Big Sandy Formation, host to the lithium mineralised green clays. To
date, results from the first four drill holes have been received.

Figure 3: Big Sandy – Maiden Drill Program Commenced

The intercepts are considered extremely significant as these are the first results from 4 holes in a
regional programme that is designed to test the highly anomalous results from the previous detailed
mapping, surface sampling and shallow auger programs across the mapped 11km x 2km zone of
lithium mineralised lacustrine clays.
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Figure 4: Cross Section DDHs 6/6A, 7 & 4

Holes DDH6/6A 1 and DDH7 intersected mineralised lithium clays from approximately 8m downhole:
•

DDH6/6A returned 43.8 m @ 2,089 ppm lithium from 8.2 metres: and

•

DDH7 contained 22 m @ 2,020 ppm lithium from 8.0 and 11.0 m @ 2,013 ppm lithium from
36.0 metres.

These holes are separated by 190 metres with only a 3 metre difference in elevation.
DDH4 drilled 700m north of DDH7 returned 3 mineralised zones; 18.8 m @ 1,288 ppm Li from 8.2
metres, 14.0 m @ 1,677 ppm Li from 46.0 metres and 13.0 m @ 1,672 ppm from 76.0 metres.
DDH4 was collared at an elevation 47m above DDH7 and the intercept from 8.2m is interpreted as a
mineralised zone lying above those intersected in DDHs 6 and 7. The lower 2 intercepts in DDH4
correlate geologically with those returned from DDHs 6 and 7. This demonstrates the shallow depth
as well as the excellent grade and geological continuity of the mineralisation.

It is the same mineralised clay that was tested by auger drill holes 210m south of DDH6, DH1 to DH3
in the 2017 exploration program, which returned assays of 2,983, 3,370 and 3,150 ppm lithium
respectively. These characteristics of thickness and excellent geological/grade continuity will
potentially enable a rapid resource definition in this area.

DDH6A was collared approximately 1m from DDH6 to recover the upper portion of the clay interval lost in DDH6. The significant
intercept for DDH6/6A includes results from 8.23m to 16m from DDH6A and from 16m onwards from DDH6.
Hawkstone Mining Limited page 7
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Figure 5: Drill Hole Location Plan
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Figure 6: Big Sandy DDH7 – Mineralised Clay, Interval 23 – 28m (2,518ppm Li)

DDH5 was terminated in tertiary basalt after passing through a shallow interbedded limestone and clay
horizon. Geological mapping indicated that the basalt does not persist to the west and should not have any
impact on potential resources related to mineralisation intersected in DDHs 4, 6/6A and 7.

A further 4 holes have been completed; DDHs 3, 8, 9 and 10. DDH3, located 500m northwest of DDH4,
intersected a thick sequence of interbedded clays and tuffs. Sampling has been completed and submitted to
ALS for analysis. Hole DDH8, located 770m southeast of DDH5 was terminated in basalt that is interpreted to
be a Tertiary basalt similar to that intersected in DDH5. It has been sampled and dispatched to ALS.
DDHs 9 and 10 intersected a thick sequence of carbonate cemented conglomerate defining a west south west
orientated erosional palaeochannel scoured through the lacustrine basin. As the conglomerate is composed
of the same material to the surficial colluvium that covers most of the area its presence was unrecognised. It
is interpreted to separate the northern and southern portions of the lacustrine basin. It will not impact on
potential resources related to mineralisation intersected in DDHs 6 and 7.
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Hole Id
DDH4

Easting

Northing

RL

From (m)

To (m)

Metres

Li ppm

264643

3843106

662

8.2

27.0

18.8

1,288

46.0

60.0

14.0

1,677

76.0

89.0

13.0

1,672

DDH5

265004

3842783

637

13.0

17.5

4.6

1,506

DDH6/6A

264508

3842247

615

8.2

52.0

43.8

2,089

Incl. 11m @ 2,537 ppm Li from 12 - 23m
Incl. 5.28m @ 2,260 ppm Li from 38 - 43.28m
Incl. 2.67m @ 2,761 ppm Li from 46.33 - 49m

DDH7

264618

3842396

619

53.0

62.0

9.0

1,440

8.0

30.0

22.0

2,020

Incl. 3m @ 2,416 ppm Li from 11 - 14m
Incl. 10m @ 2,486 ppm Li from 18 - 28m
36.0

47.0

11.0

2,013

52.0

63.0

11.0

1,589

*Easting and Northing in UTM NAD83 Zone 12

Big Sandy – 2017 Exploration Results
Two previous phases of exploration were completed in 2017, with both providing highly encouraging
results. The focus initially was to identify the possible nature and extent of lithium within the clays,
and to identify any horizons of elevated lithium that may become a potential resource subject to
further exploration.
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A total of 201 samples were collected in the first exploration program returning positive results
including:
Table 2: Significant Sample Results from Phase 1 Exploration
Channel
C3
C4
C9
C11
C12
C20
C21

Approximate
Location
264677E
3843803N
264575E
3843759N
264255E
3843363N
264327E
3843572N
264354E
3843607N
264544E
3841963N
264196E
3841225N

Estimated
Number of
Average Grade Grade Range Li
Channel Length
Samples
Li ppm
ppm
(m)
(~3m / sample)

Sampled Horizon
Green Clay
(Main Zone)
Green Clay
(Main Zone)

18

6

1,023

850 - 1100

12

4

987

840 - 1130

42

14

1,066

640 - 2,280

Main Zone

24

8

1,154

760 - 1,910

Main Zone

18

6

1,067

800 - 1,400

Main Zone

15

5

2,701

1,130 - 2,930

Main Zone

3

1

1,190

point sample

Green Clays
(Lower green zone)

A second round of mapping and sampling was completed in July 2017, where a total of 74 samples
were collected including 8 auger holes up to 1m depth. Multi element analyses was completed by ALS
Laboratories using a 4-acid digest for sample preparation.
Five channel samples in the weathered zone returned results exceeding 1,000 ppm up to 1,312 ppm
lithium over widths of 12m – 24m.
Table 3: Significant Sample Results from Phase II of Exploration

Channel

Approximate
Location

Estimated
Number of
Channel Length
Samples
Average Grade
(m)
(~3m / sample)
Li ppm

Grade Range
Li ppm

Sampled Horizon

C33

265161E
3838844N

15m

5

1,042

910 - 1,170

Green clay
(Main Zone)

C34

265954E
3836466N

24m

8

1,066

480 – 1,440

Green clay
(Main Zone)

C35

265730E
3836561N

21m

7

1,313

1,140 – 1,830

Green clay
(Main Zone)

C36

265905E
3836681N

12m

4

1,205

1,140 – 1,310

Green clay
(Main Zone)

C37

266116E
3836913N

12m

4

1,180

1,030 – 1,410

Green clay
(Main Zone)

C38

265853E
3843462N

30m

10

921

500 – 1,440

Green/brown clay

C39

266824E
3835508N

6m

2

865

810 – 920

Green clay
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Of the 8 auger holes, 7 returned results exceeding 900 ppm lithium and 3 returned results of 2,983,
3,370 and 3,150 ppm lithium, DH1 to DH3 respectively. These 3 holes are spaced at approximately
35m intervals from south to north testing the same “green clay” horizon.
Table 4: Summary of Auger Sampling
Sample
Site
DH1
DH2
DH3
DH4
DH5
DH6
DH7
DH8

Approximate Location Sample Numbers
264555E
3841968N
264552E
3842005N
264549E
3842041N
264346E
3843650N
264586E
3843727N
264522E
3843736N
263163E
3844365N
263259E
3844442N

Average Grade
Li ppm

Comments

BS17542 - BS17544

2,983

Samples top, mid and 1m depth.

BS17545 - 17546

3,370

Samples top and 0.4m depth

BS17547 - 17549

3,150

Samples top, mid and 0.75m depth

BS17550 - 17551

1,010

Samples top and 0.5m depth

17552 - 17553

915

Samples top and 0.5m depth

17554 - 17555

915

Samples top and 0.25m depth

17556-17558

817

Samples top, mid and 1 m depth

17559 - 17561

1,020

Samples top, mid and depth 0.8m
depth
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Lordsburg comprises 208 BLM claims covering 16.8km2 plus a further 147 BLM claims covering a
further 11.9km2 under application. Lordsburg is located in the southwest corner of the state of New
Mexico and is easily accessed along the I10 Interstate between Tucson (Arizona) and La Cruces (New
Mexico) close to the New Mexico, Arizona border. Rail lines pass to the north of the Claim Block and
through the lake system to the south.
The Lordsburg Playa system is approximately 15km to the southwest of the town of Lordsburg and
lies at an elevation of 1,200m above mean sea level.
General Geology
Lordsburg project sits within the playa lake system at the northernmost end of the Animas Valley,
southwest New Mexico. The basin is an elongated feature bounded to the west by the Peloncillo
mountains and to the east by the Pyramid mountains. The basin comprises clays, silts and sands,
similar to the lithological sequence in the Clayton Valley. Further there is anecdotal evidence that
highly saline fluids were intersected in a historical stock water well located in the basin.

Figure 8: The Lordsburg Playa Lakes in New Mexico
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The playa is within the main depression of the Animas Valley and is coincident with a broad gravity
low suggesting a major basin may be present. Surrounded by tertiary volcanic rocks the valley mimics
the Clayton Valley setting.
An historic US Geologic Survey map from 1954 shows a windmill that is labelled as a "salt well" in the
gravity low that is associated with the playa system. The well head was located, and sampling was
attempted, but it is blocked at 100 feet. The existence of the well is interpreted as evidence that the
subsurface aquifer beneath the playa is salty (brine) and hence the total lack of water wells or any
agricultural development near the playa.

Figure 9: Regional Gravity – Target Playa
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Figure 10: Well Head at Southern - Referenced Bottom Corner of Figure 7

Previous Sampling
Surface sampling has been completed in the claim block. It demonstrated the presence of highly
anomalous Li values up to 160ppm. Locations are shown in Figure 7 and results are shown in the
following:
Table 5: Sample Results LPN1 to LPN8 & LBE1 to LBE7
SAMPLE

EASTING

NORTHING

Li ppm

Mg %

K%

LPN 1

697997

3583949

93.2

1.22

3.04

LPN 2

698051

3583303

97.9

1.19

2.94

LPN 3

698039

3582662

133.5

1.73

2.79

LPN 4

698022

3582006

120

1.45

2.92

LPN 5

697492

3581683

135

1.69

2.69

LPN 6

696971

3581853

148.5

1.89

2.59

LPN 7

696513

3582323

140.5

1.83

2.63

LPN 8

697453

3582712

155.5

1.96

2.67

LBE1

700062

3580319

140

No Multi element analysis

LBE2

699959

3580318

130

No Multi element analysis

LBE3

699862

3580314

140

No Multi element analysis

LBE4

699754

3580309

140

No Multi element analysis

LBE5

699675

3580394

160

No Multi element analysis

LBE6

699614

3580471

150

No Multi element analysis

LBE7

699534

3580545

140

No Multi element analysis

NOTE: Sample Locations UTM84 12S. Both sampling programs were analysed by ALS Laboratories using a 4-acid digest. LPN1- LPN8 were
analysed by ICP and ICP-MS, method ME-MS61. Samples LBE1-LBE7 were analysed with an ICP-AES finish, method Li- ICP61 (Li only analysis).
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ACQUISITION TERMS
Hawkstone agreed to acquire 100% of the shares of USA Lithium Limited held by the vendors
(Acquisition). USA Lithium owns 100% of the shares in US Lithium Pty Ltd and New Mexico Lithium
Pty Ltd.
US Lithium Pty Ltd owns the 258 BLM claims plus a further 49 BLM claims under application
comprising the Big Sandy Lithium Project and New Mexico Lithium Pty Ltd owns the 355 BLM claims
comprising the Lordsburg Lithium Project.
Subject to satisfaction of the completion conditions set out below and shareholder approval,
Hawkstone agreed to issue a total of 250,000,000 shares to the vendors (or their nominees)
proportionate to the vendors’ shareholding in USA Lithium Limited as set out below:
a. 125,000,000 Hawkstone Shares at completion;
b. 125,000,000 Hawkstone Shares, subject to:
i.

Hawkstone within 36 months from the completion declaring an inferred resource at
the Big Sandy Lithium Project of not less than 30Mt at a grade greater than 2,000ppm
(or equivalent, subject to a minimum average grade of 1,000ppm lithium); and

ii.

ASX granting a waiver from Listing Rule 7.3.2 for the issue of the Deferred
Consideration Shares; and

c. Within 2 days following shareholder approval, Hawkstone to transfer $250,000 to USA
Lithium.

The Acquisition was conditional upon the following completion conditions:
a. Capital Raising: Completion of a capital raising by the Company to raise up to $2,750,000
(before costs) through a placement of shares at an issue price of $0.02 per share;
b. Shareholder Approvals: the Company obtaining all necessary shareholder approvals, including
approval pursuant to ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2;
c. Regulatory Approvals: the Company obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals;
d. Minority vendors: minority vendors executing binding sale agreements; and
e. Other: any such other conditions that are necessary in order for the matters contemplated by
the Option Agreement to be properly completed.

The Company completed the acquisition on 7 September 2018 having satisfied the completion
conditions.
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KANGWANE SOUTH PROJECT

Figure 11: Kangwane South Project, South Africa.

The Company undertook an aeromagnetic and radiometric survey completed at the end of 2017 with
the interpretations received in January 2018 confirming ground magnetometer surveys undertaken
previously giving the Company increased confidence in the historical data regarding the Project. The
survey interpretation has enhanced the Company's knowledge of the geological structure of the
Project and assisted with targeting of drill holes for the Company’s Phase 2 drill program.
Phase 1 Drilling Program
In June 2017 the Company commenced its Phase 1 two hole drill program primarily designed to:
•
•

•

check the accuracy of the historical boreholes drilled by the Mining Corporation which were
drilled during the late 1970’s and the 1980’s;
confirm the historical washability characteristics of the different anthracite seams with new
data from washability of the current drilling program and the low sulphur content of certain
of the anthracite seams; and
conduct impact splitting tests on the rock/sediments above and below the anthracite seams
to characterise the potential underground mining conditions that will be encountered.

Results for the Phase 1 drill program are in line with the results of historical boreholes giving the
Company validation of the accuracy of prior results in that area.
Borehole KS13 intersected 6 coal seams and KS12 intersected 3 seams, with both boreholes
intersecting the main 5+6 seam. A summary of the three main seams is tabled below:
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Table 5: 3 main seam intersections in two new boreholes KS 12 & 13
Bore ID
KS12
KS13

Roof 7
Floor 7
Width 7
57.05
58.20
1.15
Core lost (0.56 width)

Roof 5+6
60.60
103.85

Floor 5+6 Width 5+6
61.70
1.10
106.76
2.91

Roof 3
77.55
118.15

Floor 3
79.30
120.30

Width 3
1.75
2.15

Figure 12: Location of all 6 boreholes undertaken in the Phase 1 & Phase 2 drill programs

Geotechnical tests conducted via impact splitting indicated that the mining roof conditions in the
main 5+6 seam is good in both holes but varied from average to poor in the other seams. The
numerous thin dolerite sills intersected above the coal in Borehole KS12 had a deleterious effect on
the quality of the coal seams.
The coal analyses and washability tests conducted on the core samples indicated slightly lower
qualities and theoretical yields than predicted from the historical data.
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Figure 13: Photographs of the core and coal seams
Table 7: Average Qualities from Phase 1 Drilling
Hole Id
KS12
KS13
KS12

Seam
3
3
7

Moisture
2.5
2.14
2.2

Ash
57.3
26.95
53.9

Volatiles
5.1
7.25
4.9

FC
35.1
63.67
39

Sulphur
1.23
0.91
0.52

CV
12.6
24.01
13.37

Raw RD
1.95
1.57
1.91

KS12
KS13

5+6
5+6

2.8
2.05

47.1
47.24

4.5
6.98

45.6
43.72

0.57
0.29

14.59
16.07

1.83
1.81

Phase 2 Drilling Program
In January 2018, the Company commenced the 4 borehole Phase 2 drill program with results of the
drilling program confirming coal with medium ash, low phosphorus and low sulphur anthracite. The
Phase 2 drill program was designed following receipt of results of the aeromagnetic survey
undertaken by the Company in late 2017.
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Figure 14: Block boundaries superimposed on the interpreted aeromagnetic survey
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Figure 15: Photographs of the anthracite seams intersected in Phase 2 drill program

A summary of the analyses and washability tests conducted on the four borehole core samples are
tabulated below:
Table 8: Raw Qualities from Phase 2 Drilling
Hole Id
KS15
KS17
KS18

Seam
7
7
7

Moisture
8.80
1.40
1.90

Ash
38.60
38.20
28.10

Volatiles
5.90
7.60
6.80

FC
46.80
52.80
63.20

Sulphur
0.10
0.46
0.47

CV
15.86
19.80
23.84

Yield
100
100
100

Raw RD
1.93
1.73
1.60

KS19
KS17
KS18
KS19
KS17
KS19

7
5+6
5+6
5+6
3
3

5.60
1.38
3.07
1.65
1.54
2.03

31.20
27.58
30.51
27.65
27.40
33.85

2.60
8.74
6.29
4.68
7.99
5.81

60.60
62.33
60.06
66.04
63.04
58.31

0.11
0.63
0.35
0.40
0.40
0.42

18.66
23.98
22.34
23.60
24.20
21.04

100
100
100
100
100
100

2.11
1.63
1.69
1.81
1.63
1.77
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Table 8: Simulated Wash Qualities for a 20% Ash Product from Phase 2 Drilling
Hole Id
KS17
KS18
KS19
KS17
KS18

Seam
7
7
7
5+6
5+6

Moisture
1.60
2.10
0.60
1.40
3.63

Ash
20.00
20.00
20.00
20.00
20.00

Volatiles
7.85
6.60
2.39
8.51
6.56

FC
70.55
71.30
71.61
70.09
69.81

Sulphur
0.62
0.52
0.11
0.65
0.41

CV
27.10
27.03
22.04
27.07
26.22

Yield
26.29
67.90
56.69
77.00
62.43

Raw RD
1.73
1.60
2.11
1.63
1.69

KS19
KS17
KS18
KS19

5+6
7
7
7

1.61
1.60
2.10
0.60

20.00
20.00
20.00
20.00

4.75
7.85
6.60
2.39

73.64
70.55
71.30
71.61

0.45
0.62
0.52
0.11

26.51
27.10
27.03
22.04

69.64
26.29
67.90
56.69

1.81
1.73
1.60
2.11

Table 9: Simulated Wash Qualities for a 17% Ash Product from Phase 2 Drilling
Hole Id
KS17
KS18

Seam
7
7

Moisture
1.54
2.19

Ash
17
17

Volatiles
7.87
6.6

FC
73.58
74.21

Sulphur
0.66
0.54

CV
28.39
28.18

Yield
17.13
52.56

Raw RD
1.73
1.6

KS19
KS17
KS18
KS19
KS17
KS19

7
5+6
5+6
5+6
3
3

6.09
1.41
3.83
1.49
1.67
2.15

17
17
17
17
17
17

2.22
8.27
6.7
4.47
7.59
5.96

74.69
73.32
72.47
77.04
73.74
74.89

0.11
0.64
0.45
0.47
0.47
0.35

22.88
28.35
27.33
27.21
28.38
27.55

43.06
60.44
38.04
32.19
73.98
63.39

2.11
1.63
1.69
1.81
1.63
1.77

The phosphorus content in the raw samples for the three mineable seams is tabulated below:
BH ID and Seam
KS15 7 Seam
KS17 7 Seam
KS17 5+6 Seam
KS17 3 Seam
KS18 7 Seam
K 18 5+6 Seam
KS19 7 Seam
KS19 5+6 Seam
KS19 3 Seam

Table 10: Phosphorus Content for Phase 2 Drilling
Width
P % in Raw Anthracite
0.81
0.012
1.26
0.009
2.01
0.016
3.62
0.015
1.28
0.013
1.66
0.012
1.30
0.010
1.30
0.012
2.22
0.014

A number of samples had their fractional floats reconstituted to produce a 17% Ash product. The
phosphorus content in the coal was determined and they all indicated very low phosphorus content.
Geotechnical tests conducted from impact splitting on selected seams indicated the mining roof
conditions with the total roof rating for each seam achieving moderate to very good outcomes
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The regional geology of the area is shown on the below geological plan. The Karoo super group was
deposited unconformably on the Achaean granite floor. The Karoo sediments found in the area are;
Dwyka, Middle Ecca, Upper Ecca and the Stormberg Group. The first three formations consist of
sedimentary deposits, while the Stormberg Group consists of sedimentary and volcanic extrusions.
Numerous faults and sills are present in the area.
The coal seams were deposited in the Middle Ecca. The sedimentary succession was followed by the
extrusion of volcanics. Dolerite dykes and sills intruded at the time of the Stormberg volcanics. It is
thought that these volcanics together with minor folding caused the devolatilisation of the coal. The
devolatilisation is not localised to areas near the volcanics but is regional and thus must also be due
to the structural folding. The Middle Ecca is correlated with the Vryheid Formation. The Vryheid
formation is consideration to be of fluvial origin and consists predominantly of arenaceous sediments,
namely, sandstones with subordinate grits, mudstones, shales and carbonaceous sediments which
include the coal seams. There are four possible causes of the anthratisation of the coal, high
geothermal gradient, intrusion of dolerite sills and dykes, formation and folding of the Lebombo
monocline and the intrusion of the Mananga granophyre.

Figure 16: Plan showing the limits of Karoo (coal bearing formation)
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated group consisting of Hawkstone Mining Limited and the
entities it controlled (referred to hereafter as the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2018 and the Auditor’s
Report thereon.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP
Hawkstone Mining Limited (the “Company” or “parent entity”) is a mineral exploration and development
company with the Kangwane South Project in South Africa focussed on anthracite and the newly acquired Big
Sandy and Lordsburg Projects in USA exploring for lithium.
SUMMARY OF RESULTS

The Group’s loss for the year attributable to members of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June
2018 was $1,255,408 (2017: profit of $1,450,733). The prior year profit was largely due to the gain on debt
forgiveness following effectuation of the Deed of Company Administration in February 2017.
At 30 June 2018, the Group had net assets of $1,368,834 (2017: $1,753,522) and the Company had
315,127,995 (2017: 276,127,995) shares on issue.
DIRECTORS
The Directors of Hawkstone Mining Limited in office at any time during or since the end of the year are set out
below. Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

Shaun Hardcastle (non-executive director)
Paul Lloyd (Managing director appointed 7 September 2018)
Oonagh Malone (non-executive director)
Richard Pearce (non-executive director resigned 7 September 2018)

INFORMATION ON CURRENT DIRECTORS
Mr Paul Lloyd – Managing Director (appointed 7 September 2018)

Paul Lloyd is a Chartered Accountant with over 30 years commercial experience. Mr Lloyd operates his own
corporate consulting business, specialising in the area of corporate, financial and management advisory
services. After commencing his career with an international accounting firm, he was employed for
approximately 10 years as the General Manager of Finance for a Western Australian based international
drilling contractor working extensively in Asia and Africa. Paul has been responsible for a number of IPOs,
RTOs, project acquisitions and capital raisings for ASX listed public companies.
Other Current Directorships:

None

Former Directorships in Last Three Years:

European Lithium Limited (resigned 20 October 2017)

Mr Shaun Hardcastle – Non-executive Director (appointed 23 February 2015)

Mr Hardcastle has over 10 years’ experience as a corporate and finance lawyer and extensive experience in
corporate governance, risk management and compliance. He has been involved in a broad range of crossborder and domestic transactions including joint ventures, corporate restructuring, project finance, resources
and asset/equity sales and acquisitions. Mr Hardcastle has practiced law both in Australia and overseas and
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currently works with Bellanhouse, a boutique corporate law firm in West Perth. He graduated from the
University of Western Australia in 2005 with a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Arts and is currently
completing a Graduate Diploma in Energy Law.
Other Current Directorships:

Schrole Group Limited (from 4 October 2017)
Clancy Exploration Limited (from 1 December 2017)
Bunji Corporation Limited (from 24 August 2018)

Former Directorships in Last Three Years:

None

Ms Oonagh Malone – Non-executive Director and Company Secretary (appointed 23 February 2015)

Ms Malone is a principal of a corporate advisory firm which provides company secretarial and administrative
services. She has almost 10 years’ experience in administrative and company secretarial roles for listed
companies and is a member of the Governance Institute of Australia. She currently acts as company secretary
for ASX-listed Boss Resources Limited, Bunji Corporation Limited, Carbine Resources Limited, Clancy
Exploration Limited, Matador Mining Limited and New Century Resources Limited.
Other Current Directorships:

Carbine Resources Limited (from 23 March 2018)

Former Directorships in Last Three Years:

New Century Resources Ltd (resigned 13 July 2017)

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid or are proposed to be paid to members during the financial year (2017: Nil).
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES
Future developments for the Group depend on activity regarding the Kangwane South Anthracite Project and
the Big Sandy and Lordsburg Lithium Projects.
EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than as set out below, no events that would have significant effect on the financial report have occurred
since the end of the reporting period:
•

On 7 September 2018, the Company:
completed the acquisition of USA Lithium Limited, the 100% owner of the Big Sandy and Lordsburg
Lithium Projects in Arizona and New Mexico respectively;
appointed Mr Paul Lloyd as Managing Director of the Company and accepted the resignation of
Mr Richard Pearce as a Non-Executive Director;
issued 125,000,000 ordinary shares as consideration of the acquisition of USA Lithium Limited;
issued 125,000,000 ordinary shares in a placement to professional and sophisticated investors at
an issue price of $0.02 each to raise $2,500,000 before costs;
issued 5,190,000 ordinary shares at a deemed issue price of $0.02 each as consideration for capital
raising activities;
issued 47,250,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.04 each on or before 7 September 2022 to
directors, corporate advisers and an employee; and
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issued 47,250,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 7 September 2022 to
directors, corporate advisers and an employee.
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OPTIONS

Unissued ordinary shares of Hawkstone Mining Limited under option during or since the year ended 30 June
2018 were as follows:
Expiry date

Issue price of
shares

21 December 2020
Total

$0.048

Number under option
2018

2017

6,000,000
6,000,000

-

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

During the financial year, 5 meetings of Directors were held and 5 circular resolutions signed. Attendances by
each Director during the year were as follows:
Name
Shaun Hardcastle
Oonagh Malone
Richard Pearce

Directors’ meetings
No. of meetings eligible to attend
No. of meetings attended
5
4
5
5
5
5

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company does not have a formally constituted audit committee. The Board considers that the Company’s
current position in respect of the composition of the Board, the size of the Company and the minimal
complexities involved in its financial activities, the Company is not in a position to justify the establishment of
an audit committee. The full Board performs the duties of this committee.
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
1.
2.
3.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Remuneration committee and board charter
Details of remuneration

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

In determining competitive remuneration rates, the Board seeks independent advice as required on local and
international trends among comparative companies and industry generally. Independent advice may be
obtained to confirm that executive remuneration is in line with market practice and is reasonable in the
context of Australian executive reward practices.
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The Board recognises that the Company operates in a global environment. To prosper in this environment it
we must attract, motivate and retain key executive staff.
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The principles supporting the remuneration policy are that:
-

reward reflects the competitive global market in which the Company operates;

-

rewards to executives are linked to creating value for shareholders;

-

remuneration arrangements are equitable and facilitate the development of senior management
across the Company;

-

where appropriate, senior managers receive a component of their remuneration in equity to align
their interests with those of the shareholders; and

-

long term incentives are used to ensure that remuneration of key management personnel reflects the
Group’s financial performance, with particular emphasis on the Group’s earnings and the consequence
of the Group’s performance on shareholder wealth.

Fees and payments to directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the
directors. Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board also ensures that
directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market.
There are no retirement allowances or other benefits paid to directors.
Remuneration Committee and Board Charter

The Charter of the Remuneration Committee extends the duties to that of a Nominations Committee. The
Board considers that the Group is not yet of sufficient size to warrant the establishment of a separate
Nominations Committee.
The Remuneration Committee, consisting of at least two directors, is responsible for making recommendations
on remuneration policies and packages applicable to Board members and for approval of remuneration for
executive officers of the Company taking into account the financial position of the Company. The broad
remuneration policy per the formal Charter is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the
person’s duties and responsibilities, and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and
motivating people of the highest quality.
It is the Remuneration Committee’s policy to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for
comparable companies for time, commitment and responsibilities though taking into account the financial
position of the Company and the Company’s shareholder approved limits. The Constitution of the Company
specifies that the aggregate remuneration of Directors, other than salaries paid to executive directors, shall
be determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is
divided between those directors as they agree. The latest determination was at the Annual General Meeting
held on the 20 April 2007 when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $250,000 per year.
The Board as a whole determines the amount of the fees paid to each non-executive director. All Directors
may be allocated options to acquire shares in the Company under the Director and Employee Share Option
Plan approved by shareholders from time to time.
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The Board approves remuneration packages for Executive officers based on performance criteria and the
Group’s financial performance. Other employee remuneration packages are determined and approved by the
Board based on salary market rate indicators, press advertisements, performance criteria and against the
Group’s financial state of affairs.
Additional information for consideration of shareholder wealth
This table summarises the earnings of the consolidated entity and other factors that are considered to affect
shareholder wealth for the 5 years to 30 June 2018.
2018
Profit/ (loss) after income tax
attributable to shareholders ($)
Share price at year end ($)
Total dividends declared (cents per
share)
Returns of capital (cents per share)
Basic profit/(loss) per share (cents)

2017

2016

2015

2014

(1,255,408)
0.034

1,450,733
0.011

(773,307)
N/A*

(609,129)
N/A*

(1,246,523)
N/A*

(0.45)

1.49

(12.62) **

(9.94) **

(20.49) **

* Trading in shares of the Company were suspended from official quotation on ASX during these years.
** Comparative share price and basic profit/(loss) per share has been restated to reflect the 1:100 share capital consolidation in 2017.

Details of Remuneration - Service Agreements
Position held as at 30 June 2018 and
any change during the year

Shaun Hardcastle Non-executive director
Oonagh Malone

Non-executive director and
company secretary

Richard Pearce

Non-executive director

Contract details (duration & termination)

Service agreement / In accordance with Constitution.
Appointed 23 February 2015
No termination benefits payable
Service agreement / In accordance with Constitution.
Appointed 23 February 2015
No termination benefits payable
Service agreement / In accordance with Constitution.
Appointed 23 February 2015, resigned 7 September
2018
No termination benefits payable

Changes in Directors and Executives Subsequent to Year-End

On 7 September 2018, Mr Richard Pearce resigned as Non-Executive Director of the Company and Mr Paul
Lloyd was appointed as Managing Director.
Remuneration Details for the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The following table of benefits and payments details, in respect to the financial year, the components of
remuneration for each member of the key management personnel (KMP) of the Consolidated Group. The
aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors was less than the approved aggregate remuneration of
$250,000 p.a.
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Table of Benefits and Payments for the Year Ended 30 June 2018
Post
Short-term Employment
Share based
Proportion of
Benefits
Benefits
payment
remuneration
Cash salary
SuperTermination Options/
performance
and fees
annuation
benefit
Rights
Total
related
$
$
$
$
$
%
S Hardcastle 2018
36,000
40,240
76,240
53%
2017
(6,000)
- (6,000)
O Malone
2018
36,000
40,240
76,240
53%
2017
(6,000)
- (6,000)
R Pearce
2018
36,000
40,240
76,240
53%
2017
(6,000)
- (6,000)
Total
2018
108,000
120,720 228,720
53%
2017
(18,000)
- (18,000)
Unpaid Director Fees
At 30 June 2016, unpaid director fees of $27,024 were accrued for each of Mr Hardcastle, Ms Malone and Mr
Pearce. These were intended to be paid on successful relisting but were forgiven by directors before relisting
to meet ASX net assets requirements. As directors were each only paid $21,024 for the year ended 30 June
2017, this led to a net remuneration of ($6,000) each after the reversal of previously accrued directors’ fees.
Mr Hardcastle is a related party of Bellanhouse. Bellanhouse was paid legal fees of $120,000 for the year ended
30 June 2018 (2017: $106,206) with no outstanding creditor balance at year end. There were no other
transactions with KMP.
Director and KMP Shareholdings
The number of ordinary shares in Hawkstone Mining Limited held by each KMP of the Company, as disclosed
to the ASX, during the financial year is as follows:

30 June 2018
S Hardcastle
O Malone
R Pearce
30 June 2017
S Hardcastle
O Malone
R Pearce

Balance at
beginning of year

Balance at
beginning of year

-

-

Granted as
remuneration
during the year

Granted as
remuneration
during the year

-

-

Issued on exercise
of options during
the year

Issued on exercise
of options during
the year

-

-

Other changes
during the year

Balance at end of
year or resignation
-

Other changes
during the year

Balance at end of
year or resignation
-
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The number of share options in Hawkstone Mining Limited held by each KMP of the Company, as disclosed to
the ASX, during the financial year is as follows:
30 June 2018
S Hardcastle
O Malone
R Pearce
30 June 2017
S Hardcastle
O Malone
R Pearce

Balance at
beginning of year

Balance at
beginning of year

-

-

Granted as
remuneration Exercised during the
during the year
year
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
Granted as
remuneration
during the year

Exercised during the
year
-

Other changes
during the year

Balance at end of
year or resignation
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

Other changes
during the year

Balance at end of
year or resignation

-

-

Cash Bonuses, Performance-Related Bonuses and Share-Based Payments

There were no cash bonuses, or other short term performance related bonuses made to any KMP in the
financial years ended 30 June 2018 or 30 June 2017.
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to KMP are set out below.
When exercised, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Hawkstone Mining Limited. These
options were granted with nil additional consideration. These options fully vested during the year. No options
issued to current or previous KMP expired or lapsed during the year.
KMP
S Hardcastle

Grant date
21/12/2017

Number
granted
2,000,000

Exercise price
($)
0.048

Value per
option ($)
0.02012

Value of
options
granted ($)
40,240

Issue and
vesting date
21/12/2017

Expiry date
21/12/2020

O Malone

21/12/2017

2,000,000

0.048

0.02012

40,240

21/12/2017

21/12/2020

R Pearce
Total

21/12/2017

2,000,000
6,000,000

0.048

0.02012

40,240
120,720

21/12/2017

21/12/2020

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period
from issue date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above. Fair values at
grant date are independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account
the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of
the option and the liquidity of the share market. Refer to note 29.
Details of all options held by KMP, at the date of this report, are shown below.
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Grant date

Number granted

Value of options
granted ($)

Vesting date

Expiry date

Vested (%)

21/12/2017

2,000,000

40,240

21/12/2017

21/12/2020

100

S Hardcastle

3/08/2018*

1,000,000

23,890

7/09/2018

7/09/2022

100

S Hardcastle

3/08/2018**

1,000,000

22,870

7/09/2018

7/09/2022

100

O Malone

21/12/2017
3/08/2018*

2,000,000

40,240

21/12/2017

21/12/2020

100

1,000,000

23,890

7/09/2018

7/09/2022

100

1,000,000

22,870

7/09/2018

7/09/2022

100

15,000,000

358,350

7/09/2018

7/09/2018

100
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KMP
S Hardcastle

O Malone
O Malone
P. Lloyd

3/08/2018**
3/08/2018*

3/08/2018**
P. Lloyd
15,000,000
343,050
7/09/2018
7/09/2018
100
*
These options with an exercise price of $0.04 were granted, for accounting purposes, at the General Meeting on
3 August 2018, but issued on 7 September 2018 at completion of the USA Lithium acquisition.
**
These options were issued on the same date, but with an exercise price of $0.05.

[END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT]
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either
Commonwealth or State legislation. However, the Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in
place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those
environmental requirements as they apply to the Group.
INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITORS

In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, every Officer
of the Company shall be indemnified out of the property of the Company against any liability incurred by
them in their capacity as Officer, or agent of the Company or any related corporation in respect of any act or
omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal.
The Company has agreed to pay a premium for Directors and Officers Insurance.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company
for all or any part of those proceedings.
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The Directors are satisfied that:
(a) any non-audit services provided during the financial period by William Buck as the external
auditor were compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act; and
(b) any non-audit services provided during the financial period by William Buck as the external
auditor did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act for
the following reasons:
i. William Buck services have not involved directors or staff acting in a managerial or decision
making capacity within or been involved in the processing or originating of transactions;
ii. a description of all non-audit services undertaken by William Buck and the related fees have
been monitored by the Board to ensure complete transparency in relation to services
provided; and
iii. none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as
set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

In 2017, William Buck Consulting (WA) Pty Ltd, a related entity to William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd prepared
an Investigating Accountant’s Report for inclusion in a Prospectus for Hawkstone Mining Limited and received
a fee of $8,000.
AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditors’ independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been received and is included on
page 34.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Ms Oonagh Malone
Non-Executive Director
Dated at Perth this 28th day of September 2018
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The following information is provided in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 5.21.
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Mineral Resource Estimation Governance Statement
Hawkstone Mining Limited ensures that the Mineral Resource estimates are subject to appropriate levels of
governance and internal controls. The Mineral Resources have been generated by independent external
consultants who are experienced in best practices in modelling and estimation methods. The consultants have
also undertaken review of the quality and suitability of the underlying information used to generate the
resource estimations. The Mineral Resource estimates follow standard industry methodology using geological
interpretation and assay results from samples won through drilling.
Hawkstone Mining Limited reports its Mineral Resources in accordance with the “Australasian Code for
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (the JORC Code) (2012 Edition).
Competent Persons named by the Company qualify as Competent Persons as defined in the JORC Code.
The table below sets out Mineral Resources for 2017 and 2018 for the Kangwane South Project in South Africa.
There was no change between the two periods.
Anthracite Resources as at 30 June 2017 and at 30 June 2018
Kangwane South

Measured
(Mt)
0

Indicated
(Mt)
73.9

Inferred
(Mt)
25.8

Total
(Mt)
99.7

Competent Person’s Statement
Information contained in this report that relates to exploration results and mineral resources for the Kangwane
South Project is based on, and fairly represents, information compiled by Mr David van Wyk, who is a Member
of the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions, a “Recognised Overseas Professional
Organisation” included in a list promulgated by the ASX from time to time. Mr van Wyk is the proprietor of
GeoCoal Services CC which provides geological consulting services. Mr van Wyk has sufficient experience which
is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is
undertaking in respect of the Kangwane South Project to qualify as a “Competent Person” within the meaning
set out in the JORC Code 2012. Mr van Wyk consents to the inclusion of the matters based on his information in
the form and context in which it appears in this announcement. The exploration results were released to the
market on 27 September 2017, 30 January 2018 and 7 September 2018. The mineral resources were first
released by the Company in a Prospectus dated 30 September 2016. The Company confirms that it is not aware
of any new information or data that materially affects the exploration results and mineral resources included
in that announcement.
The information in this report that relates to exploration results for the Big Sandy and Lordsburg Lithium Projects
is based on and fairly represents information compiled by Mr Greg Smith, a Competent Person whom is a
Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Smith is the Company's Chief Technical
Officer and holds securities in the Company. Mr Smith has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Smith consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on
his information in the form and context in which it appears. The exploration results were released to the market
on 22 March 2018 and 20 September 2018. The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information
or data that materially affects the exploration results and mineral resources included in that announcement.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 30 June 2018

Revenue from continuing operations
Directors’ fees forgiven/(directors’ fees)
Consulting and advisory fees
Share based payment expense
Corporate and regulatory expenses
Exploration and evaluation
Legal fees
Occupancy expenses
Finance costs
Administrative expenses
Loss before income tax
Income tax
Loss after income tax from continuing operations attributable to
members of Hawkstone Mining Limited
Operations of disposal groups
Exploration and evaluation
Gain on debt forgiveness and restructuring
Profit/(loss) for the year from disposal groups
Profit/(loss) attributable to members of Hawkstone Mining
Limited
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Reclassification adjustments for foreign operations
disposed of during the year
Exchange difference on translation of foreign controlled
entities, net of tax
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Note
3
4(b)
29
4(c)

4(a)
6

28
28

27

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
- attributable to members of the parent

Profit/(loss) per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the company
Basic Profit/(loss) per share in cents
Diluted Profit/(loss) per share in cents
Loss per share from continuing operations attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the company
Basic Loss per share in cents
Diluted loss per share in cents
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
1,621
5,259
(108,000)
(70,920)
(120,720)
(35,837)
(286,602)
(135,700)
(48,000)
(10,406)
(225,187)
(1,039,751)
-

18,000
(130,541)
(100,000)
(88,417)
(154,617)
(16,000)
(459,282)
(95,058)
(1,020,656)
-

(1,039,751)

(1,020,656)

(215,657)
(215,657)

(16,052)
2,487,441
2,471,389

(1,255,408)

1,450,733

-

1,110,796

-

(14,040)
1,096,756

(1,255,408)
(1,255,408)

2,547,489
2,547,489

22
22

(0.45)
(0.45)

1.49
1.49

22
22

(0.37)
(0.37)

(1.05)
(1.05)
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Note
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Assets classified as held for sale
Prepayments

7
8
9

30 June
2018
$

30 June
2017
$

394,325
46,162
536,480
8,874

653,214
57,419
-

985,841

710,633

549,659
-

536,480
555,228
-

549,659

1,091,708

1,535,500

1,802,341

166,666
-

48,819
-

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

166,666

48,819

TOTAL LIABILITIES

166,666

48,819

1,368,834

1,753,522

58,683,709
1,884,391
(59,199,266)

57,933,709
1,763,671
(57,943,858)

1,368,834

1,753,522

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Mineral exploration & evaluation expenditure
Other financial assets
Investment in associate

10
11
12

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

13
14

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

15
16

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2018
Issued
capital
At 30 June 2016
Comprehensive Income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for
the year
Exchange differences on
translation of controlled entities
Disposal of subsidiaries
Total comprehensive loss for the
year
Transactions with owners, in
their capacity as owners, and
other transfers
Shares issued during the period
Issue of ordinary shares for
compliance advisory services
performed
Share issue costs
At 30 June 2017
Comprehensive Income
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for
the year
Exchange differences on
translation of controlled entities
Disposal of subsidiaries
Total comprehensive loss for the
year
Transactions with owners, in
their capacity as owners, and
other transfers
Equity instruments issued during
the period
Recognition of share based
payments
Share issue costs
At 30 June 2018

Foreign
translation
reserve
$
(3,307,135)

Accumulated
losses

Total

$
55,729,051

Share based
payment
reserve
$
3,974,050

$
(59,394,591)

$
(2,998,625)

-

-

-

1,450,733

1,450,733

-

-

(14,040)
1,110,796

-

(14,040)
1,110,796

-

-

1,096,756

1,450,733

2,547,489

2,180,000

-

-

-

2,180,000

100,000
(75,342)
57,933,709

3,974,050

(2,210,379)

(57,943,858)

100,000
(75,342)
1,753,522

-

-

-

(1,255,408)

(1,255,408)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,255,408)

(1,255,408)

780,000

-

-

-

780,000

(30,000)
58,683,709

120,720
4,094,770

(2,210,379)

(59,199,266)

120,720
(30,000)
1,368,834

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received

Note

30 June
2018
$

30 June
2017
$

(776,510)
1,621

(616,581)
5,259

(774,889)

(611,322)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for other financial assets

-

(570,933)

Net cash used in investing activities

-

(570,933)

516,000
-

129,815
(243,815)
2,020,000
(75,342)

516,000

1,830,658

(258,889)

648,403

653,214

4,811

394,325

653,214

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs

24(b)

14
14

Net cash generated by financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

7

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
1

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and notes of Hawkstone
Mining Limited and controlled entities (the ‘Group’).
(a)

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the
Corporations Act 2001.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result
in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and
conditions to which they apply. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the
financial statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented
below. They have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Group has incurred a net loss for the year of $1,255,408 (2017: profit of $1,450,733) and net cash
outflows from operating activities of $774,889 (2017: $611,322). The loss is mainly due to the
exploration expenditure, due diligence costs including the option fee for the US Lithium project, and
ongoing administration costs. The Group had cash assets of $394,325 at 30 June 2018 (2017:
$653,214).
The Directors believe that it is appropriate preparing the financial information on a going concern basis
for the following reasons:
-

The $2,500,000 capital raising that occurred with the completion of the acquisition of USA Lithium
Limited on 7 Sepember 2018 is sufficient to fund ongoing operations.
The intended sale of the Kangwane South project is expected to raise further funds.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 28th September 2018.
Hawkstone Mining Limited is a for profit company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in
Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.
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The significant accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements
are:
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(b)

(c)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as
an exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following
conditions are satisfied:
(i)

the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:
(a)

the exploration and evaluation expenditure is expected to be recouped through successful
development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

(b)

exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at the end of the
reporting period, reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence
or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in,
or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights
to explore. Subsequent exploration and evaluation costs are expensed as they are incurred.
Accumulated costs in relation to an area of interest that has been abandoned are written off in full
against the profit or loss in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
When production commences the accumulated costs for the relevant area are amortised over the life
of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Hawkstone Mining Limited
and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by Hawkstone Mining Limited (its
subsidiaries).
Control is achieved when the Company:
• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent
company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist. All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.
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Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and cease to
be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(d)

(e)

Specifically income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between:
• The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest; and
• The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit and loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by the applicable AASBs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under AASB 139, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
Impairment of assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged against profits in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.
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(g)
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Foreign currency transactions
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the
parent company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation,
the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this
method.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation
of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on the change in fair value of the item.
Income tax
The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and
deferred tax expense (income).
Current income tax expense charged to the profit and loss is the tax payable on the taxable income
using applicable income tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the end of the reporting
period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to
(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax
assets also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding
a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.
Research and development expenditure tax offsets receivable under Section 73Q of the Income Tax
Assessment Act are recognised upon lodgement of the income tax return, when the Company has
made the required election.
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Share based payment transactions
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The Group recognises the fair value of options granted to directors, employees and consultants as
remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(i)

(j)

The Group provides benefits to directors, employees and consultants of the Group in the form of share
based payment transactions, whereby directors, employees and consultants render services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these equitysettled transactions with directors, employees and consultants is measured by reference to fair value
at the date they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model.
Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past
event, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can
be reliably measured.
Financial Instruments
Recognition and Initial Measurement
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is
adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by marketplace
convention.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument
is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified
as at fair value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments
are classified and subsequently measured as set out below.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the
asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value
of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
through the amortisation process and when the financial liability is derecognised.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings and trade and other payables, are initially measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs.
Hawkstone Mining Limited page 43

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Annual Report 30 June 2018

For personal use only

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

(k)

(l)

(m)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability,
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Fair value
The Group has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value because, while assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in business combinations have been measured at their acquisition date fair values,
in accordance with paragraph 18 of AASB 13, these initial measurements have formed the costs of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the purpose of other accounting standards.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events (a
“loss event”) having occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset(s).
In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance
account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After
having taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount
cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance
account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly if no impairment
amount was previously recognised in the allowance account.
When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been
renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account
the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred
are duly considered.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank, short term
deposits with financial institutions maturing within less than three months and net of outstanding
bank overdrafts.
Revenue recognition
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues.
Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
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Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.
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(n)

(o)

Comparative figures
When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.
New Accounting Standards for application in future periods
The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods and which the Group has decided not to
early adopt. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Group is as follows:
• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual reporting
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018).
The Standard will be applicable retrospectively and includes revised requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition
requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge accounting.
The key changes made to the Standard that may affect the Group on initial application include certain
simplifications to the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded
derivatives, and the irrevocable election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income.
The Group will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018. The adoption of this standard would have no
effect on the balances of the Group, as presented in this financial report, as no financial instruments
held by the Group would be recognised or measured differently under this standard. Future effects
of the implementation of this standard will mostly depend on the form of any financial instruments
held by the Group.
• AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers and associated Amending Standards (applicable
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018).
The Standard establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. The Group does not presently generate any revenue that would be affected by
this new accounting policy.
The Group will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018. The adoption of this standard would have no
effect on the balances of the Group, as presented in this financial report, as no revenue or potential
revenue of the Group would be recognised or measured differently under this standard. Future effects
of the implementation of this standard will depend on the wording of relevant contracts.
•

AASB 16 Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019)

AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that requires all leases to be accounted for on
balance sheet. A lessee will be required to recognise an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (ie right-of-use asset) and a liability to make lease payments (ie
lease liability). Two exemptions are available for leases with a term less than 12 months or if the
underlying asset is of low value.
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The lessor accounting requirements are substantially the same as in AASB 117. Lessors will therefore
continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases.

(p)

(q)

AASB 16 will replace AASB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and interpretation 127 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 will have no material impact on the Group’s net
assets as the Group has no material lease contracts. Although the group is party to a serviced office
agreement, no specific locations are assigned to the Group.
New and Amended Accounting Policies adopted by the Group
The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards that are relevant
and applicable for the current reporting period. The adoption of these standards did not have a
significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Group.
Assets classified as held for sale
The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Noncurrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to
the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense.
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and
the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to
complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or
that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the
asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year from the date of the classification.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified
as held for sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current
items in the statement of financial position.
A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:
•
•
•

Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations; or
Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as
a single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or
loss.
All other notes to the financial statements include amounts for continuing operations, unless indicated
otherwise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
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In preparing these Financial Statements the Group has been required to make certain estimates and
assumptions concerning future occurrences. There is an inherent risk that the resulting accounting estimates
will not equate exactly with actual events and results.
Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions
of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period
are:
Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure and assets classified as held for sale
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of
factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully
recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.
Factors that could impact the future recoverability includes potential sale of assets classified as held for sale,
the level of reserves and resources, future technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production
rates, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to
commodity prices.

Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Fair values of share options are determined
using the Black Scholes model. Should the assumptions used in these calculations differ, the amounts
recognised could significantly change.
Disposal of subsidiaries
The Group disposed of controlled subsidiaries Exteen Pty Ltd and Main Street 795 (Proprietary) Limited in
2017, along with the loan to Main Street 800 Pty Ltd detailed in note 11, all long term debt and other liabilities,
with the effectuation of the DOCA on 27 February 2017. Consequently, the entire assets and liabilities of
Exteen Pty Ltd and Main Street 795 (Proprietary) Limited, the loan to Main Street 800 Pty Ltd detailed in note
11, all long term debt and other liabilities, constituted a disposal group at 30 June 2017. All disposed assets
and liabilities are listed in note 27. As the carrying amount of the disposal group was not expected to be
recovered principally through a sale transaction, no separate balances for the disposal group are presented in
the Statement of Financial Position. Relevant disclosures are presented in note 28. As the disposal group met
the definition of a discontinued operation, per AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations Appendix A, during 2017, relevant balances are separately disclosed in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and the previously recognised foreign currency translation
reserve balance has been derecognised.

Recognition of assets classified as held for sale
The Group has reclassified the Kangwane South Project as an asset classified as held for sale, as disclosed in
note 9, because the Directors are actively marketing this project and consider a sale highly likely. Only the
capitalised exploration expenditure, and not other assets or liabilities, has been classified as a non-current
asset held for sale, because the mining rehabilitation bond of $549,659 disclosed in note 11 may be replaced
by a purchaser or otherwise treated in a manner outside the scope of the definition of assets classified as
held for sale. There are no other assets or liabilities related to this asset that would form part of a disposal
group because all administration functions are performed directly by the parent entity and no entity in the
Group other than the parent operates bank accounts or processes accounts payable.
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Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
1,621
1,621

5,259
5,259

179,661
19,928
25,598
225,187

60,172
9,700
25,186
95,058

(b)
Director benefits expense:
Director fees paid
Director fees forgiven/ accrued but not paid
Total

108,000
108,000

63,072
(81,072)
(18,000)

(c)
Exploration and evaluation:
US Lithium due diligence option fee paid in shares
Due diligence on US Lithium
Total

250,000
36,602
286,602

-

19,928
19,928

18,500
8,000
26,500

-

-

-

-
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Interest received
Total revenue
4

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

(a)
Individually significant items in administration expenses include:
Accounting and administration fees
Audit fees1
Share registry
Total
1
2017 Audit fees include adjustment for over-accrual in prior years.

5
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Remuneration of the auditor for:
Audit or review of the financial report of the Company and controlled entities
Preparation of an Investigating Accountant’s Report
6
TAXATION
(a)
Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current tax
Deferred tax
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(b)

Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable:
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Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (2017: 27.5%)
Foreign tax rate adjustment
Tax effect amounts not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income
Deferred tax (liabilities)/asset not brought to account on tax losses and
temporary differences
Realisation of deferred tax asset not previously recognised
Total income tax (benefit)
(c)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets:
Timing differences
Tax losses - revenue
Deferred tax assets not brought to account

(1,255,408)
(345,237)
88,811

1,450,733
398,952
4,556
16,440

256,426
-

(419,948)
-

8,477,215
3,435,072

8,055,699
4,988,818

11,912,287

13,044,517

The Group has not recognised any deferred tax assets except to the extent that they offset deferred tax liabilities.

The ability of the Group to utilise the tax losses is subject to the company satisfying either the continuity of
ownership test or the same business test.
(d)

Franking credits

The Company has no franking credits available.
7
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank

8
TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Other receivables

394,325
394,325

46,162
46,162

653,214
653,214

57,419
57,419
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Interest in Kangwane South Project
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure
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Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
536,480
536,480

-

The Group is seeking to sell the Kangwane South Project and considers it highly likely that relevant assets will be
sold during 2019. Consequently, the capitalised mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure of $536,480 has
been reclassified as an asset classified as held for sale. Although the mining rehabilitation bond of $549,659
disclosed in note 11 is for the Kangwane South project, this has not been reclassified as an asset classified as
held for sale as this bond may be replaced by a purchaser or otherwise treated in a manner outside the scope of
the definition of Non-current assets held for sale. The bond has not been included with the asset classified as
held for sale as a disposal group because it may be recovered in a separate transaction. There are no other assets
or liabilities related to this asset that would form part of a disposal group because all administration functions
are performed directly by the parent entity and no entity in the Group other than the parent operates bank
accounts or processes accounts payable.
Results for the Kangwane South Project are disclosed in note 28(i).
10 MINERAL EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Opening Balance
Exploration expenditure incurred
Additions on acquisition
Reclassification to asset classified as held for sale
Less: Impairment charge
Closing Balance

536,480
(536,480)
-

536,480
536,480

The 2017 balance represents the Kangwane South Project which is in the exploration and evaluation phase.
Ultimate recoupment of exploration expenditure carried forward is dependent on successful development and
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of respective areas. The interest in the Kangwane South Anthracite
Project was previously impaired down to the estimated realisable value. At 30 June 2018, this has been reclassified
as a non-current asset held for sale as disclosed in note 9.
11 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
NON CURRENT
Loan to associate (a)
Mining rehabilitation bond (b)

549,659
549,659

555,228
555,228

(a) Loan – Main Street 800 Pty Ltd (Associate)
The Company previously provided funding to Main Street 800 Pty Ltd for the Bankable Feasibility Study on the
Kangwane Central project. The loan had no fixed repayment terms and was interest free. This loan was impaired
down to the expected recoverable value of $1,884,951 to 30 June 2016, before being cancelled on effectuation
of the DOCA on 27 February 2017.
(b) Mining rehabilitation bond
In 2017, the Company paid a mining rehabilitation bond of $570,933 (ZAR 5,574,974) to secure access to the
Kangwane South Project. This was revalued to $549,659 at 30 June 2018 (2017: $555,228).
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
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Summarised financial information for the year ended 30 June 2016

Main Street 800 Pty Ltd

Ownership Interest
%
46.15

Assets
$
1,884,951

Liabilities
$
1,884,951

Reserves
$

-

Profit/(Loss)
$
-

Included in 2016 assets was a loan from the Company to Main Street 800 Pty Ltd, a South African entity that
held the Kangwane Central Anthracite project, for the funding of the Kangwane Central Bankable Feasibility
Study. This loan was impaired down to the expected recoverable value of $1,884,951 (see note 11(a)) in the
prior year before being disposed of on effectuation of the DOCA (see notes 27 and 28).

13

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Trade payables
Other payables

14

BORROWINGS

Total

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
152,166
14,500
166,666

38,319
10,500
48,819

-

-

Movement in secured borrowings
Opening balance
3,026,438
Accrued interest
293,846
Effectuation of the DOCA
(3,320,285)
Closing balance
The Group owed a secured loan to Prestige Glory Limited of $3,026,438 at 30 June 2016. Interest of $293,846
accrued on this loan in 2017 before this loan was cleared on effectuation of the DOCA on 27 February 2017.
Movement in unsecured borrowings
Opening balance
Accrued interest
Effectuation of the DOCA
Borrowings during the year
Repayment of borrowings
Closing balance

-

1,694,298
147,222
(1,743,520)
129,815
(227,815)
-

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group obtained further interest free unsecured loans totalling
$129,815. These loans were repaid in 2017 with $144,000 repaid through the issue of shares and $83,815
repaid in cash. The ($243,815) for repayment of borrowings shown in the Consolidated statement of cash
flows for 2017 consists of both this $83,815 and the $160,000 payment for the unsecured creditors’ trust
shown in note 27. The remaining balance of unsecured borrowings was cleared in 2017 on effectuation of the
DOCA.
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ISSUED CAPITAL
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Number of
shares
2018
Opening balance - (fully paid ordinary shares)
1:100 share consolidation
Public offer of 200,000,000 shares at an issue
price of $0.01 each.
Conversion offer of 20,000,000 shares at an
issue price of $0.005 each.
Recapitalisation offer of 40,000,000 shares at an
issue price of $0.002 each.
Issuing compliance advisor shares
Sophisticated investor placement of 12,500,000
shares at an issue price of $0.02 each.
Option fee for due diligence on USA Lithium,
paid with 12,500,000 shares at a deemed value
of $0.02 per share
Sophisticated investor placement of 14,000,000
shares at an issue price of $0.02 each.
Capital raising costs
Closing balance - (fully paid ordinary shares)

Number of
shares
2017

2018
$

2017
$

276,127,995
-

612,747,560
(606,619,565)

57,933,709
-

55,729,051
-

-

200,000,000

-

2,000,000

-

20,000,000

-

100,000

12,500,000

40,000,000
10,000,000
-

250,000

80,000
100,000
-

12,500,000

-

250,000

-

14,000,000

-

280,000

-

315,127,995

276,127,995

(30,000)
58,683,709

(75,342)
57,933,709

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. In the event of the winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders
rank after creditors and are fully entitled to any net proceeds on liquidation.
Ordinary shares have no par value, and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. At 30
June 2018 there were 6,000,000 options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in the Company (2017: nil).
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RESERVES

Consolidated Group
2018
$
3,974,050
120,720
4,094,770

2017
$
3,974,050
3,974,050

(2,210,379)
-

(3,307,135)
1,110,796

(2,210,379)
1,884,391

(14,040)
(2,210,379)
1,763,671

Share-based payment reserve
Opening Balance
Movement for the year
Closing balance
Foreign translation reserve
Opening balance
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Foreign translation difference on translation of
controlled entities
Closing balance
Net reserves

Share-based payment reserve:
The share-based payment reserve relates to shares and share options granted by the Company to its
employees under its employee share plan.

Foreign translation reserve:
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign operations
from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Australian dollars) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign translation reserve. Exchange
differences previously accumulated in the foreign translation reserve (in respect of translating the net assets
of foreign operations) are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.

17

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Parent entity
Hawkstone Mining Limited
Particulars in relation to controlled entities
ZYL Mining (SA) Proprietary Limited
Oakleaf Investment Holdings (Proprietary) Limited
Altius Trading 404 (Proprietary) Limited

Percentage Interest
2018

2017

100%
100%
70%

100%
100%
70%

Country of
incorporation

South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
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PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

The following details information related to the parent entity, Hawkstone Mining Limited at 30 June 2018. The
information presented has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 1.
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(a)

Summary financial information

Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year

2018
$
1,017,613
549,659
1,567,272

2017
$
710,633
1,123,480
1,834,113

166,666
166,666

48,819
48,819

58,683,709
4,094,770
(61,377,873)
1,400,606

57,933,709
3,974,050
(60,122,465)
1,785,294

(1,255,408)
(1,255,408)

1,999,687
1,999,687

(b)

The parent entity had not provided any material guarantees as at 30 June 2018.

(c)

The parent entity did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2018.

(d)

The parent entity did not have any material contractual commitments as at 30 June 2018.

19

SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year, the Group’s operations were predominantly in one reportable geographic and operating
segment, being the exploration of coal in South Africa. Although the Group conducted due diligence activities
on potential assets for acquisition, all transactions were processed in the accounts of the parent entity, with
no discrete financial information prepared for different operations and no separate review of operating results
by the Board.
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Compensation of key management personnel

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration paid or
payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel For the Year Ended 30 June 2018.

Short term employment benefit
Share based payments

21

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a)

Transactions with related parties

Consolidated Group
2017
2018
$
$
(18,000)
108,000
120,720
(18,000)
228,780

Share and option holdings in the Company by the directors or director-related entities and specified executives are
set out in the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ Report. Mr Hardcastle is a related party of
Bellanhouse. Bellanhouse was paid legal fees of $120,000 for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: $106,206) with
no outstanding creditor balance at year end. All transactions with related parties are on standard arms’ length
commercial terms.
(b)

Loans to/from related parties

Loans to associate (see Note 11(a))
Opening balance
Effectuation of DOCA

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
-

1,884,951
(1,844,951)
-
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LOSS PER SHARE
Loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company
Basic/diluted profit/(loss) per share in cents
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of
basic/diluted profit/(loss) per share
Basic/diluted profit/(loss)

Loss per share from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity
holders of the company
Basic/diluted loss per share in cents from continuing operations
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of
basic/diluted loss per share
Basic/diluted loss from continuing operations

Annual Report 30 June 2018

(0.45)

1.49

281,714,296
(1,255,408)

97,114,296
1,450,733

(0.37)

(1.05)

281,714,296
(1,039,751)

97,114,296
(1,020,656)

The options on issue at 30 June 2018 were anti-dilutive, and therefore diluted loss per share was the same as basic
loss per share.
The diluted profit per share for 2017 is equal to the basic profit per share because there were no outstanding options
or rights to acquire shares.
The comparative loss per share from continuing operations has been recalculated following the reclassification of
prior year expenses due to the current year recognition of the Kangwane South Project disposal group as described
in note 28.
23

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to various risks from the use of financial instruments. The Group’s financial instruments
consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, and accounts receivable and payable.

The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for Group operations.

(a)

Financial risk exposure and management

Financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (interest rate risk, and foreign currency risk) are
managed such to maintain on optimal capital structure. The Group does not enter into derivative transactions to
manage financial risks. In the current period, the Group’s financial risk arises principally from cash financial assets.
The Group invests its cash in term deposits and other appropriate bank accounts to obtain market interest rates.
(b)

Capital risk management

In previous years the Group incurred significant debts to finance project acquisition and development. Following
effectuation of the DOCA, all historic borrowings have been repaid or extinguished and capital is now funded by
issued capital. The Group consistently monitors expenditure and adjusts expenditure and raises capital as required.

The capital of the Group now consists of equity of the Group (comprising issued capital and reserves as detailed in
notes 15 and 16, and retained earnings).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Market rate risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk
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The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in relation to the acquisition of goods and services in South African
Rand (ZAR) and United States Dollars (USD). The Group does not hedge this exposure by using financial instruments.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Australian dollar, was
as follows:

Financial Assets
Other financial assets (ZAR)
Financial Liabilities
Trade payables (USD)
Trade payables (ZAR)

Consolidated Group
2017
2016
$
$
549,659

555,228

36,349
38,115

15,571

The following tables show the foreign currency risk on the financial assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
denominated in currencies other than the presentation currency.

2018
2017

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in $AUD
ZAR
USD
Total
511,544
(36,349)
475,195
539,657
539,657

In respect of the above ZAR and USD foreign currency risk exposure in existence at the reporting date a sensitivity
of 10% lower and 10% higher has been applied. With all other variables held constant, post tax loss and equity would
have been affected as follows:

ZAR:
USD:

AUD $51,154 loss; AUD $51,154 gain (2017: AUD $53,966 loss; AUD $53,966 gain)
AUD $3,635 gain; AUD $3,635 loss (2017: nil exposure)

Hawkstone Mining Limited page 57

Annual Report 30 June 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
23
(ii)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate risk
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The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.

2018
Financial assets
Cash at bank
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
2017
Financial assets
Cash at bank
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Average
Interest Rate
%

Floating
Interest Rate
$

Fixed Interest
Rate
$
Maturing
within 12
months

0.18%
-

394,325
-

-

46,162
549,659

394,325
46,162
549,659

394,325

-

595,821

990,146

-

-

166,666
-

166,666
-

-

-

166,666

166,666

653,214
-

-

57,419
555,228

653,214
57,419
555,228

653,214

-

612,647

1,265,861

-

-

48,819
-

48,819
-

-

-

48,819

48,819

-

0.59%
-

-

Non-Bearing
Interest
$

Total
$
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
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At 30 June 2018, the effect on the Group’s loss and equity as a result of changes in the interest rates, with all other
variables remaining constant, would be as follows:

Financial assets
Cash at bank

(d)

2018
Interest rate risk
+ 0.1%
- 0.1%
0.18%

2017
Interest rate risk
+ 0.1%
-0.1%

$394

($394)

$653

($653)

$394

($394)

$653

($653)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure that it will have sufficient cash to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities or other fund raising initiatives.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based in their contractual
maturities for all financial liabilities:
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities
2018
Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables
Total non-derivatives
2017
Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables
Total non-derivatives

(e)

Less than 6
months
$

6-12 months

Over 12
months
$

$

166,666
166,666

-

-

48,819
48,819

-

-

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at the end of the
reporting period to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those
assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
The Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults. Any term deposits are to be held by at least AA rated banks thereby mitigating the
risk of default on these deposits. The Group’s policy is to review all outstanding debtors at the end of the reporting
period and, based on directors' view on credit risk, an appropriate provision for impairment is raised. At the end of
the reporting period, examination of the Group’s trade debtors ledger reveals no reason for an impairment
adjustment.
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or Company or any receivables
under financial instruments entered into by the Group.
The directors' view is that the receivables past due but not impaired are of good credit quality.
(f)

Net fair value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements is considered a
reasonable approximation of their respective net fair values.
24

NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Reconciliation of Cash

For the purpose of the statements of cash flow, cash includes cash on hand and at bank.

Cash at the end of the financial year is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as
follows:

Cash

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
394,253
653,214
394,253
653,214
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(b) Reconciliation of Profit/(Loss) After Income Tax to Net Cash (Used In) Operating Activities
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
(Loss)/ profit after income tax
(1,255,408)
1,450,733
Add/(less) non-cash items:
Net exchange differences
5,569
17,665
Gain on debt forgiveness
(1,908,058)
Option fee paid with shares
250,000
Share based payment expense
120,720
100,000
Accrued interest on borrowings
441,069
Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities before change in assets
(879,119)
101,409
and liabilities
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(4,743)
39,206
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(8,874)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions
(1,606)
Increase/(decrease) in payables
117,847
(750,331)
Net cash used in operating activities
(774,889)
(611,322)

(c)
Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
A total of 12,500,000 shares with a total value of $250,000 were issued during 2018 in payment for the option
fee for due diligence on USA Lithium. A total of 1,500,000 shares with a total value of $30,000 were issued in
2018 for payment of capital raising costs.

(d)

Financing Facilities

There were no financing facilities in place at the end of the period (2017: Nil).

25

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than as set out below, no events that would have significant effect on the financial report have occurred
since the end of the reporting period:
•

On 7 September 2018, the Company:
completed the acquisition of USA Lithium Limited, the 100% owner of the Big Sandy and Lordsburg
Lithium Projects in Arizona and New Mexico respectively;
appointed Mr Paul Lloyd as Managing Director of the Company and accepted the resignation of
Mr Richard Pearce as a Non-Executive Director;
issued 125,000,000 ordinary shares as consideration of the acquisition of USA Lithium Limited;
issued 125,000,000 ordinary shares in a placement to professional and sophisticated investors at
an issue price of $0.02 each to raise $2,500,000 before costs;
issued 5,190,000 ordinary shares at a deemed issue price of $0.02 each as consideration for capital
raising activities;
issued 47,250,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.04 each on or before 7 September 2022 to
directors, corporate advisers and an employee; and
issued 47,250,000 unquoted options exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 7 September 2022 to
directors, corporate advisers and an employee.
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As a condition for the execution of the Kangwane South mining right, an environmental bond of ZAR5,574,974
($549,659 at 30 June 2018) was required by the South African Department of Mineral Resources prior to the
commencement of mining activities on the tenement. This was paid on 17 February 2017 and disclosed in note 11.
However, as the Group is undertaking further exploration activities prior to any decision to mine, no related liability
was included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. This environmental commitment will only be
recognisable as a liability in the Group’s financial statements for accounting purposes once a decision to mine is
made.

Except for the above, as at the end of the reporting period, the Directors were not aware of any other contingent
liabilities or contingent assets.
The following administrative and legal services agreement is contracted for but not recognised in the financial
statements:

Administrative and legal services commitments
Due within 1 year
Due greater than 1 year and less than 5
Total
27

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
90,000
90,000

90,000
90,000

GAIN ON DEBT FORGIVENESS AND RESTRUCTURING

A gain on debt forgiveness and restructuring of $2,487,441 was recognised following effectuation of the DOCA on
27 February 2017, as shown in note 28. Components of this gain are as follows:
2017
$
Transfer of secured Prestige Glory Limited loan (i)
3,320,285
Transfer of unsecured Prestige Glory Limited loan (ii)
1,254,765
Transfer of Finevest Investment loan (ii)
408,755
Transfer of Mighty River International loan (ii)
80,000
Transfer of trade creditors (iii)
504,274
Transfer of other current liabilities (iii)
166,071
Transfer of trade and other receivables, including GST receivable (iv)
(90,962)
Payment of amount for unsecured creditors' trust (v)
(160,000)
Transfer of loan to Main Street 800 Pty Ltd (vi)
(1,884,951)
Amounts previously recognised in foreign currency translation reserves for disposed subsidiaries (vii) (1,110,796)
Total
2,487,441
(i)
This is the secured borrowing cleared on effectuation of the DOCA shown in note 14.
(ii)
Together these constitute the $1,743,520 unsecured borrowing cleared on effectuation of the DOCA shown
in note 14.
(iii)
These items were included in the 2016 balance of Trade and other payables.
(iv)
This was included in the 2016 balance of Trade and other receivables.
(v)
This has been offset from borrowings as shown in note 14.
(vi)
This is the other financial asset disposed on effectuation of the DOCA shown in note 11(a).
(vii)
This has been calculated by zeroing all foreign currency translation reserve balances associated with
disposed subsidiaries.
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The Group has two separate disposal groups (as defined by accounting standards) recognised in 2017 and
2018:
(i)
(ii)

The Kangwane South Project which is classified as held for sale at 30 June 2018.
The interests in the Kangwane Central Project, along with all interests in Exteen Pty Ltd and Main
Street 795 (Proprietary) Limited which were disposed of in 2017 with the effectuation of the
DOCA.

These disposal groups have the following effects on profit or loss

Disposal group
Kangwane South Project – exploration costs
Kangwane Central Project – gain on debt forgiveness and restructuring
Total
(i)

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
(215,657)
(215,657)

(16,052)
2,487,441
2,471,389

Kangwane South Project

Exploration expenditure for the Kangwane South Project has been classified as relating to the disposal group
with the following required disclosures. No gain or loss has been recognised on remeasurement to fair value
less cost to sell. The only asset or liability recognised in this disposal group is the capitalised mineral exploration
and evaluation expenditure disclosed in note 9.
Kangwane South Project
Revenue
Exploration costs
Total expenses
Pre-tax loss from operation of disposal group
Income tax expense relating to operation of disposal group
Gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less cost to sell
Income tax expense related to gain or loss on remeasurement
Amount of income or loss from operation of disposal group attributable to
owners of the parent
Cash flow details
Net cash flow attributable to operating activity for disposal group
Net cash flow attributable to investing activity for disposal group
Net cash flow attributable to financing activity for disposal group
Net cash flow attributable to operation of disposal group

(215,657)
(215,657)
(215,657)
(215,657)

(16,052)
(16,052)
(16,052)
(16,052)

(193,114)
(193,114)

(481)
(481)

Hawkstone Mining Limited page 63

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
28

DISPOSAL GROUPS (CONTINUED)

(ii)

Kangwane Central Project
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With the effectuation of the DOCA in 2017, the Company lost control and all interests in Exteen Pty Ltd and
Main Street 795 ((Proprietary) Limited).
Book values of net assets over which control was lost

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Current Assets

CONSOLIDATED
2017
$
-

Non-current Assets
Non-current financial assets
Total non-current assets

1,884,951
1,884,951

Total Assets

1,884,951

Total Liabilities
Net Assets derecognised

1,884,951

Effective consideration received of Effectuation of DOCA
Loss during the period to date of disposal
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries

4,327,392
2,487,441

The gain on debt forgiveness and restructuring of $2,487,441 detailed in note 27 was classified as a profit on
disposal of subsidiaries, based on the accounting judgements disclosed in note 2.
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
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Share based payments in the financial statements
Share based payments for directors expensed
Issue of ordinary shares for compliance advisor services
Total

(120,720)
(120,720)

(100,000)
(100,000)

Set out below are the summaries of Options granted as share based payments:
Options - 2018
Issue Date

Expiry Date

Exercise
Price
($)

21/12/2017 21/12/2020 0.048

Balance
01/07/17

Granted
during
the year

- 6,000,000
- 6,000,000

Weighted average exercise price ($)

-

0.048

Expired
Number
or
vested
Balance
Change
30/06/18 and exerdue to
cisable
Resigning
- 6,000,000 6,000,000

Exercised
during
the year

-

-

-

-

6,000,000 6,000,000
0.048

0.048

Fair values of share options are determined using the Black-Scholes model based on information available as
at the grant date, considering the exercise price, term of option, the share price at grant date, expected price
volatility of the underling share, expected yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. The
inputs to the model used were:
Grant date
Expiry date
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (years)
Underlying share price ($)
Option exercise price ($)
Value of option ($)
Number of options issued

30/11/2017
30/11/2020
104%
3.00%
3.00
$0.035
$0.052
$0.02012
6,000,000

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share-based payment options outstanding as at 30 June
2018 was 2.48 years (2017: nil).
The weighted average fair value of options outstanding as at 30 June 2018 was $0.02012 (2017: nil).
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Directors’ Declaration
1)

For personal use only

a)

b)
2)

In the opinion of the Directors of Hawkstone Mining Limited:
the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 35 to 65 are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including to:
(i) comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1(a) to the financial
statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Reporting
Standards (IFRS); and
(ii) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of the performance for
the year ended on that date of the company and consolidated Company;
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.
The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Ms Oonagh Malone
Non-Executive Director
Dated at Perth this 28th day of September 2018
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Hawkstone Mining Limited
Independent auditor’s report to members

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Hawkstone Mining Limited (the Company and its
subsidiaries (the Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and
of its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001,
which has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if
given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
GOING CONCERN
Area of focus
Refer also to the directors’ report and Note
1(a)

The Group is in the early stages of
establishing its opportunities in Natural
Resource Exploration.
The Group is heavily reliant on raising
capital and other debt instruments to
fund its exploration and evaluation
activities.
The directors have determined whether
there are sufficient cash resources in
place to allow the Group to pay its debts
as and when they fall due from 12
months from the date of the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed it

Our audit procedures assessed whether
there was a significant uncertainty in
relation to the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The appropriateness
of the going concern assumption included
an evaluation of the directors’
assessment in relation to:
— Cash flow requirements of the Group
for at least twelve months from the
date of this report;
— Forecast expenditure committed and
what could be considered
discretionary;
— Potential downside/upside scenario’s
and the resultant impact on available
funding; and

— Noted actual capital raised post
balance date of $2,500,000 before
costs.
CARRYING VALUE OF MINERAL EXPLORATION & EVALUATION
EXPENDITURE
Area of focus
Refer also to Notes 1(b), 2, 9 and 10

The Group have incurred mineral
exploration and evaluation expenditure
for the Kangwane South Anthracite
Project in South Africa. There is a risk
that accounting criteria associated with
the capitalisation of mineral exploration
and evaluation expenditure may no
longer be appropriate and that
capitalised costs exceed the value in
use.
An impairment review is only required if
an impairment trigger is identified. Due
to the nature of the mining industry,

How our audit addressed it

Our audit procedures included:
— Reviewing the directors’ assessment
of the criteria for the capitalisation of
mineral exploration and evaluation
expenditure of whether there are any
indicators of impairment to capitalised
costs;
— Assessing the viability of the project
and whether there were any
indicators of impairment to those
costs capitalised in the current period;
and
— Determining management’s
commitment to a plan to sell its
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indicators of impairment applying the
value in use model could include:
— Significant decrease seen in global
mineral prices;
— Changes to exploration plans;

mineral exploration and evaluation
expenditure or disposal group.
We assessed the adequacy of the
Group’s disclosures in respect of the
carrying value of mineral exploration and
evaluation expenditure.

— Loss of rights to tenements;
— Changes to reserve estimates;
— Costs of extraction and production;
— Exchange rate factors; and
— Changing political environment in
South Africa.
Mineral exploration and evaluation
expenditure have been treated as assets
classified as held for sale at reporting
date.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does
not include the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of
the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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As part of the process of re-listing the Company on the ASX, the present Board has adopted a Corporate
Governance plan with reference to the ASX Guidelines in order to achieve the highest standards of corporate
governance. The Company intends to follow each Recommendation where the Board has considered the
Recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark for corporate governance practices, taking into account
factors such as the size of the Company, the Board, resources available and activities of the Company. Where,
after due consideration, the Company's corporate governance practices depart from the Recommendations,
the Board will offer disclosure of the nature of, and reason for, the adoption of its own practice.
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the Company advises that all the principles and recommendations
of the ASX Corporate Governance Council have been applied with the exception of the disclosures contained
in the table set out below.
Diversity Policy
The Company recognises that a diverse and talented workforce is a competitive advantage and that the
Company’s success is the result of the quality and skills of our people. As such, the Company has adopted a
Diversity Policy to guide all recruitment and employment decisions.
Our policy is to recruit and manage on the basis of qualification for the position and performance, regardless
of gender, age, nationality, race, religious beliefs, cultural background, sexuality or physical ability. It is
essential that the Company employs the appropriate person for each job and that each person strives for a
high level of performance.
The Company’s strategies are to:
1.

recruit and manage on the basis of an individual’s competence, qualification and performance;

2.

create a culture that embraces diversity and that rewards people to act in accordance with this policy;

3.

appreciate and respect the unique aspects that individual brings to the workplace;

4.

foster an inclusive and supportive culture to enable people to develop to their full potential;

5.

identify factors to be taken into account in the employee selection process to ensure we have the right
person for the right job;

6.

take action to prevent and stop discrimination, bullying and harassment; and

7.

recognise that employees at all levels of the Company may have domestic responsibilities.

The Board is accountable for ensuring this policy is effectively implemented. Each employee has a
responsibility to ensure that these objectives are achieved.
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Compliance with ASX Recommendations
Current Practice

1.1

The Company’s Board Charter sets out the roles
and responsibilities of the Board and
Management. It is available for review on the
Company’s website.
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Recommendation

1.2

A listed entity should disclose:
(a) The respective roles and responsibilities of
its board and management; and
(b) Those matters expressly reserved to the
board and those delegated to management.
A listed entity should:
(a) Undertake appropriate checks before
appointing a person, or putting forward to
security holders a candidate for election, as a
director; and
(b) Provide security holders with all material
information in its possession relevant to a
decision on whether or not to elect or reelect a director.

The Company has implemented a policy of
undertaking police and bankruptcy checks on any
senior employees and directors before
appointment or putting to shareholders for
election.
The Company provides all relevant information
on all directors in its annual report and in the
notice of meeting in which a director is proposed
to be elected.

1.3

A listed entity should have a written agreement
with each director and senior executive setting
out the terms of their employment.

The Company requires that a detailed letter of
appointment or employment contract is agreed
with each director and employee.

1.4

The company secretary of a listed entity should
be accountable directly to the board, through the
chair, on all matters to do with the proper
functioning of the board.

Due to the current size of the Company and with
regard to its current situation, the role of the
Company Secretary is undertaken by a nonexecutive director. Notwithstanding this, the
Company Secretary is accountable directly to the
other Board members in company secretarial
matters.

1.5

A listed entity should:

The Company has adopted a formal Diversity
Policy, a summary of which is provided above.

(a) Have a diversity policy which includes
requirements for the board or a relevant
committee of the board to set measurable
objectives for achieving gender diversity and
to assess annually both the objectives and
the entity’s progress in achieving them;
(b) Disclose that policy or a summary of it; and
(c) Disclose as at the end of each reporting
period the measurable objectives for
achieving gender diversity set by the board
or a relevant committee of the board in
accordance with the entity’s diversity policy
and its progress towards achieving them, and
either:

As at 30 June 2018:
•

The Board of Hawkstone Mining Limited
was comprised three members, two of
whom were male and one female.

•

Due to the current position of the
Company, there were no senior
executives or other employees of the
Company.
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1.6

1.7

2.1

i. The respective proportions of men and
women on the board, in senior executive
positions and across the whole
organisation (including how the entity has
defined “senior executive” for these
purposes); or
ii. if the entity is a “relevant employer”
under the Workplace Gender Equality
Act, the entity’s most recent “Gender
Equality Indicators”, as defined in and
published under that Act.
A listed entity should:
(a) Have and disclose a process for periodically
evaluating the performance of the board, its
committees and individual directors; and
(b) Disclose, in relation to each reporting period,
whether a performance evaluation was
undertaken in the reporting period in
accordance with that process.

A listed entity should:
(a) Have and disclose a process for periodically
evaluating the performance of its senior
executives; and
(b) Disclose, in relation to each reporting period,
whether a performance evaluation was
undertaken in the reporting period in
accordance with that process.
The board of a listed entity should:
(a) Have a nomination committee which:
i. has at least three members, a majority of
whom are independent directors; and

The Board Performance Evaluation Policy is
available on the Company’s website.
During the reporting period, the Board
collectively assessed their respective roles and
contributions to the Company and determined
they were appropriate for that point in the
Company’s development.
The Board will continue to review its composition
as the Company progresses and consider if
additional or different members can add value to
the growth of the Company and relevance of the
Board.
Due to the current position of the Company,
there are currently no senior executives
employed. The Company will undertake period
evaluations of senior executives at the
appropriate stage of the Company’s
development.

The Board considers that given the current size of
the Board and the Company, this function is
efficiently achieved with full Board participation.
Accordingly, the Board has not established a
nomination committee.

ii. is chaired by an independent director;
and disclose:
iii. the charter of the committee;
iv. the members of the committee; and
v. as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee met
throughout the period, and the individual
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attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

2.2

2.3

(b) If it does not have a nomination committee,
disclose the fact and the processes it
employs to address board succession issues
and to ensure the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, knowledge, experience,
independence and diversity to enable it to
discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively.
A listed entity should have and disclose a board
skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and
diversity that the board currently has or is looking
to achieve in its membership.

The Board Charter, which is available on the
Company’s website, incorporates a set of skills
and abilities that are desirable for the
composition of the Board. The Board is satisfied
that it an appropriate mix of desired skills for the
current position of the Company.
The Board will continue to review its composition
as the Company progresses and consider if
additional or different members can add value to
the growth of the Company and relevance of the
Board.

The Company considered that Shaun Hardcastle,
Oonagh Malone and Richard Pearce are
(a) The names of the directors considered by the
independent directors for the period.
board to be independent directors;
Subsequent to the end of the period, Shaun
(b) If a director has an interest, position,
Hardcastle and Oonagh Malone are the
association or relationship of the type
independent directors.
described in Box 2.3 but the board is of the
The Company discloses the length of service for
opinion that it does not compromise the
each director in the Director’s Report of its
independence of the director, the nature of
annual report.
the interest, position, association or
relationship in question and an explanation
of why the board is of that opinion; and

A listed entity should disclose:

(c) The length of service of each director.

2.4

A majority of the board of a listed entity should
be independent directors.

The composition of the Board is in compliance
with this recommendation with all 3 directors
considered to be independent for the period, and
a majority subsequent to the end of the period.

2.5

The chair of the board of a listed entity should be
an independent director and, in particular, should
not be the same person as the CEO of the entity.

During the reporting period, the Board did not
have a formal chair, however, meetings were
chaired by an independent director.

2.6

A listed entity should have a program for
inducting new directors and provide appropriate
professional development opportunities for
directors to develop and maintain the skills and

The Company has implemented an induction
program for all new directors to appropriately
familiarise them with the policies and procedures
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knowledge needed to perform their roles as
directors effectively.

3.1

4.1

4.2

of the Company as part of its Corporate
Governance plan.
The Company encourages and facilitates all
Directors to develop their skills, including with
the provision of in-house seminars to maintain
compliance in areas such as risk and disclosure.

A listed entity should:
(a) Have a code of conduct for its directors,
senior executives and employees; and

The Company’s Code of Conduct is available on
the Company’s website.

(b) Disclose that code or a summary of it.
The board of a listed entity should:
(a) Have an audit committee which:
i. has at least three members, all of whom
are non-executive directors and a
majority of whom are independent
directors; and
ii. is chaired by an independent director,
who is not the chair of the board;
and disclose:

The Company does not have an audit committee
due the current size of the Board and Company.
The Company has adopted a policy whereby the
full Board fulfils the duties of the audit
committee and abides by the adopted Audit
Committee Charter (available on the Company’s
website).
The Board has adopted a formal policy regarding
the appointment, removal and rotation of the
Company’s external auditor and audit partner.

iii. the charter of the committee;
iv. the relevant qualifications and experience
of the members of the committee; and
v. as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee met
throughout the period, and the individual
attendances of the members at those
meetings; or
(b) If it does not have an audit committee,
disclose the fact and the processes it
employs that independently verify and
safeguard the integrity of its corporate
reporting, including the processes for the
appointment and removal of the external
auditor and the rotation of the audit
engagement partner.
The board of a listed entity should, before it
approves the entity’s financial statements for a
financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO a
declaration that, in their opinion, the financial
records of the entity have been properly
maintained and that the financial statements
comply with the appropriate accounting
standards and give a true and fair view of the

The Board receives a section 295A declaration
from the consultants who act as equivalent to
the CFO for each half yearly and full year report
in advance of approval of these reports.
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financial position and performance of the entity
and that the opinion has been formed on the
basis of a sound system of risk management and
internal controls which is operating effectively.
A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure
that its external auditor attends its AGM and is
available to answer questions from security
holders relevant to the audit.

The Company’s auditor is required to attend the
Company’s AGM and is available to answer
questions relevant to the audit.

5.1

A listed entity should:

The Board has adopted a formal Continuous
Disclosure Policy to ensure compliance with the
ASX Listing Rules. The Policy is available on the
Company’s website.
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4.3

(a) have a written policy for complying with its
continuous disclosure obligations under the
Listing Rules; and
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

6.1

A listed entity should provide information about
itself and its governance to investors via its
website.

The Company complies with this
recommendation.

6.2

A listed entity should design and implement an
investor relations program to facilitate effective
two-way communication with investors.

The Company has developed a Shareholder
Communications Strategy to ensure all relevant
information is identified and reported
accordingly.

6.3

A listed entity should disclose the policies and
processes it has in place to facilitate and
encourage participation at meetings of security
holders.

The Company encourages all shareholders to
attend General Meetings of the Company via its
notices of meeting, and in the event they cannot
attend, to participate by recording their votes.
The Company has implemented an online voting
system to further encourage participation by
shareholders.

6.4

A listed entity should give security holders the
option to receive communications from, and send
communications to, the entity and its security
registry electronically.

The Company and its share registry actively
encourage electronic communication. All new
shareholders will be issued with a letter
encouraging the registration of electronic contact
methods.

7.1

The board of a listed entity should:

The Company does not have a risk committee
due the current size of the Board and Company.
The Company has adopted a policy whereby the
full Board fulfil the duties of the risk committee
and abides by the adopted Risk Management
Policy (available on the Company’s website).

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee
risk, each of which:
i. has at least three members, a majority of
whom are independent directors; and
ii. is chaired by an independent director;
and disclose:
iii. the charter of the committee;

The Directors require that they are updated
regularly on all financial, legal and commercial
aspects of the Company to ensure that they are
familiar with all aspects of corporate reporting
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iv. the members of the committee; and

7.2

7.3

v. as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee met
throughout the period and the individual
attendances of the members at those
meetings: or

and believe this to mitigate the risk of not having
an independent committee.

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose
that fact and the processes it employs for
overseeing the entity’s risk management
framework.
The board or a committee of the board should:
(a) review the entity’s risk management
framework at least annually to satisfy itself
that it continues to be sound; and

The Board reviews its risk management strategy
annually.

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period,
whether such a review has taken place.
A listed entity should disclose:
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the
function is structured and what role it
performs; or
(b) if it does not have an internal audit function,
that fact and the processes it employs for
evaluating and continually improving the
effectiveness of its risk management and
internal control processes.

The Company is not of the size or scale to
warrant the cost of an internal audit function.
This function is undertaken by the Board as a
whole via the regular and consistent reporting in
all risk areas.

7.4

A listed entity should disclose whether it has any
material exposure to economic, environmental
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how
it manages or intends to manage those risks.

The Company has the normal exposure to
economic and environmental risks as would be
expected for a junior mineral exploration
company. The Company manages the economic
risks by closely monitoring expenditure and
foreign currency fluctuations. The Company
manages environmental risks by ensuring that
any contractors undertaking operations at the
Company’s project follow industry best practice.

8.1

The board of a listed entity should:

The Board consider that given the current size of
the Board, this function is efficiently achieved
with full Board participation. Accordingly, the
Board has not established a formal remuneration
committee.

(a) have a remuneration committee which:
i. has at least three members, a majority of
whom are independent directors; and
ii. is chaired by an independent director;
and disclose:

The Board will consider industry peers when
evaluating the remuneration. The Board is
cognisant of the fact that it wishes to attract and
retain the best people, and will consider
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iii. the charter of the committee;

For personal use only

iv. the members of the committee; and
v. as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee met
throughout the period and the individual
attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

strategies other than monetary to balance the
need for the best people and the financial
position of the Company.

(b) if it does not have a remuneration
committee, disclose that fact and the
processes it employs for setting the level and
composition of remuneration for directors
and senior executives and ensuring that such
remuneration is appropriate and not
excessive.

8.2

A listed entity should separately disclose its
policies and practises regarding the remuneration
of non-executive directors and the remuneration
of executive directors and other senior
executives.

The Company discloses its policies on
remuneration in the Remuneration Report set
out in its annual report.

8.3

A listed entity which has an equity-based
remuneration scheme should:

The Company recognises that Director,
executives and employees may hold securities in
the Company and that most investors are
encouraged by these holdings. The Company’s
Securities Trading Policy (available on the
Company’s website) explains and reinforces the
Corporations Act 2001 requirements relating to
insider trading. The Policy applies to all
Directors, executives, employees and consultants
and their associates and closely related parties.

(a) have a policy on whether participants are
permitted to enter into transactions
(whether through the use of derivatives or
otherwise) which limit the economic risk of
participating in the scheme; and
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The following information is based on share registry information processed up to 24 September 2018.
Ordinary Share Capital

For personal use only

570,317,995 shares are held by 2,934 individual holders.
Voting Rights
The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are that on a show of hands every member present in person or
by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. Options do not carry any voting
rights.
Restricted Securities
The Company has no restricted securities on issue.

Distribution of Holders of Equity Securities – Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
1 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 and over
Total

Holders
1,934
366
72
235
327
2,934

Unmarketable Parcels
Holders:
Units:

2,411
2,436,934

On-market Buy Back
There is no current on-market buy-back.

Substantial Shareholders
Name
Paranoid Enterprises Pty Ltd

Number of Shares
29,538,462

%
5.18

Hawkstone Mining Limited page 79

Annual Report 30 June 2018

For personal use only

Twenty Largest Holders of Quoted Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
Name
Paranoid Enterprises Pty Ltd
DXB Holdings Pty Ltd <The DXB A/C>
Coral Brook Pty Ltd <Lloyd Super Fund A/C>
Sisu International Pty Ltd
Pershing Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <Patersons Securities A/C>
Mr Stephen John Dobson
Mr Hans-Rudolf Moser
Blu Bone Pty Ltd
Mr Antonius Joseph Smit
Mrs Michelle Denny <Pirate’s Cove A/C>
Mr Andrew William Spencer <Spencer Super Fund A/C>
Razorback Ridge Investments Pty Ltd <Greg Smith Super Fund A/C>
Stewart David Lloyd
Kingslane Pty Ltd <Cranston Super Pension A/C>
Ocean View WA Pty Ltd
Kobia Holdings Pty Ltd
Wimalex Pty Ltd <Trio S/F A/C>
Horseshoe Manganese Pty Ltd
Thor Mining PLC
Nitram Family Investments Pty Ltd <Nitram Family A/C>
TOTAL

Number of Shares
29,538,462
13,600,000
13,341,347
12,500,000
12,350,000
12,000,000
11,616,988
10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
9,293,755
9,250,000
9,250,000
9,000,000
8,950,000
8,400,000
8,000,000
8,000,000
7,812,500
7,687,500
220,590,552

%
5.18
2.38
2.34
2.19
2.17
2.10
2.04
1.75
1.75
1.75
1.63
1.62
1.62
1.58
1.57
1.47
1.40
1.40
1.37
1.35
38.66

Unquoted Securities
Class
Options exercisable at $0.048 each on or before 21 December 2020
Options exercisable at $0.04 each on or before 7 September 2022
Options exercisable at $0.05 each on or before 7 September 2022

Number
6,000,000
47,250,000
47,250,000

Unquoted Securities >20% Holders (as at 20 September 2018)
Class
Options exercisable at
$0.048 each on or
before 21 December
2020

Holder
CYM Holdings Pty Ltd <GCM A/C>
Ms Oonagh Jane Malone
Ms Rachel Pearce <The Pearce Family A/C>

Number
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

Percentage
33.33%
33.33%
33.33%

Options exercisable at
$0.04 each on or before
7 September 2022

Mr Gregory Smith
Mr Paul Lloyd

15,000,000
15,000,000

31.75%
31.75%

Options exercisable at
$0.05 each on or before
7 September 2022

Mr Gregory Smith
Mr Paul Lloyd

15,000,000
15,000,000

31.75%
31.75%
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Company Secretary
Oonagh Malone

For personal use only

Registered Office in Australia
Suite 23, 513 Hay Street, Subiaco WA 6904
Tel:
08 6143 6705
Share Registry
Automic Registry Services
Level 2, 267 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
Tel: 1300 288 664
Schedule of Mining Tenements
Tenement
Kangwane South
Big Sandy WIK-001 to WIK-112
Big Sandy BSL-001 to BSL-146
Lordsburg LLP-001 to LLP-208
Lordsburg LLP-209 to LLP-354

Location
Mpumalanga, South Africa
Arizona, USA
Arizona, USA
New Mexico, USA
New Mexico, USA

Interest
70%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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